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PREFACE

Like most remarkable cities, Vilnius, the capital of Lithuania, has its ghosts of previous peoples that
are there no more, and of which only scant traces remain on site. As history goes, the annihilation of
its erstwhile Jewish people, who comprised around a third of the population before the war, was both
recent and brutally near-complete. It happened in the years 1941 to 1943, when nearly all the city’s
Jews were murdered at Pondr (now Paneriai), by the Nazis and their enthusiastic local henchmen.

There are diverse ways to “touch and feel” the living Jewish civilization that pulsated through
the city’s streets for centuries. By “civilization” we refer to an array of cultures rather than any single
one. The vibrant diversity of Jewish Vilna spans the gamut from the most piously religious prayer
and study houses and yeshivas to the movements dedicated to modernist Yiddish culture (often
affiliated to socialist and social-democratic movements) and to modern Hebrew culture (usually
affiliated to the Zionist movement).

The Lithuanian-language form Vilnius is the proper way to refer to the city’s present incarnation.
But for its classical periods, and right up to the war, the English form Vilna is perhaps most appropri-
ate, approximating the name of the city (in alphabetic order!) in Belarusian, Lithuanian, and Russian,
and close to the Polish Wilno. In prewar Jewish usage, the notion ‘Vilna’ was itself spelled in three
different ways, reflecting three of the Jewish cultures of the city. First, with the word-final Hebrew
letter alef (giving Vilno, or in more casual pronunciation Vilne), an ancient Aramaic noun-ending
form. And then, from around the turn of the twentieth century, the two competing modernist Jew-
ish cultures — and the city became a major international center for both — introduced their own
variations on the name of the city. The Yiddishists spelled it with phonetic Yiddish ayin at the end
(giving Vilne). The Hebraists respelled the city’s name with the Biblical-style word-final hey, rendered
in speech in the “Sephardic” (eventually Israeli) pronunciation, giving: Vilna.

And with that, we return to the question of how to fathom today these lost terrains of culture?
There are still survivors (alas, fewer with each passing day) of that prewar life. There are the books
and magazines and papers in libraries, there are photographs and paintings, and there are deriva-
tive communities in Israel and the West, in addition to the tiny but vibrant community in Vilnius.



This little book introduces prewar Jewish Vilna through book stamps. Some show possession
of a book by an individual, or an individual’s donation of a book to a library or institution. Others
are the formal stamps of libraries of cultural movements. Most are inked stamps, but some are
stickers, embossing on leather book covers, inscriptions in ink by a professional scribe, or even
the “pauper’s stamp” of a handwritten line, repeated near-identically on a number of books, in the
spirit of a stamp.

The images of old book stamps tell more individual stories too. The choice of Hebrew vs. Yiddish,
and in those with national-language texts, of Russian vs. Polish (or very briefly, Lithuanian), speak
to the issues of cultural orientation as well as dating. These book stamps include one from the kloyz
(Lithuanian Yiddish for “synagogue” or “prayer-and-study house”) of the Gaon of Vilna, one from a
milk store on Zavalna Street (today’s Pylimo gatve), and one of the first used by the just-organized
Yivo around 1925.The next-to-last stamp in this book is of the Vilna Ghetto police on a Hebrew book,
symbolizing the imminent and barbaric liquidation of the magnificent Jewish world that was Vilna.
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THE VILNA GAON'S KLOYZ

The Lithuanian Yiddish word for synagogue (particularly a cozy prayer house that doubles as a full
time study house) is a kloyz. The most famous in Vilna was dem gd(y)ens kloyz (kloyz of the Gaon of
Vilna — he was Eyliéhu ben Shidyme-Zalmen, who lived from around 1720 until 1797).

It was erected some three years after his death, in 1800, by the Vilna Jewish Community, on the
site of his home where he studied, wrote and taught a small group of elite pupils. The attic preserved
the Gaon’s study table and candlesticks.

British scholar Israel Cohen reported on his 1930s visit to the kloyz:“Ten pious scholars who have
separated themselves from their wives and families in order to achieve perfect concentration, are al-
ways engaged here in the study of sacred lore, to the greater glory of the immortal sage. Whenever
there is a vacancy in their ranks it is immediately filled” (Cohen 1943: 111).

The stamp reads shdyekh I'kloyz ha-Géen mi-Vilne (belongs to the Gaon of Vilna's kloyz), with the
final alef apocopated, leaving the ad-hoc (but perfectly readable) “abbreviation” VILN.

The book is a volume of Eyn-Ydnkev (Ein Yaakov, ‘Eye of Jacob'’ after Deuteronomy 33:28), a clas-
sic compilation of legends in the Talmud. This particular edition purports to be “as printed [in small
letters, abbreviated] in Slovita [in big letters]” so the undiscerning would think it a prestigious print
from Slovita (now Slavuta, Ukraine). According to Dr. Moshe Rosenfeld (Rose Chemicals, London),
the book is most likely to have been one of the “emulations of Slovita prints that appeared in War-
saw, Lemberg (Lvov) or Koenigsberg in the late nineteenth century.”

In today’s Vilnius, the site of the Gaon’s kloyz, of which nothing remains, is an empty patch of
street with a bust of the Gaon, placed there in 1997, which some observers feel looks more like Karl

Marx than Eyliéhu the Gaon of Vilna...

Menke Katz Collection
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A CHRISTIAN BOOK AT THE "LIGHT OF TORAH" SYNAGOGUE

Historians and pundits have long pondered the role of Vilna as a center of both traditionalist rab-
binic culture and of the modernist Jewish intellectual movements. There was much less “fear of con-
tamination” among even the most pious Vilna Jews — and more generally, classic Litvaks — about
exposure to aspects of non-Jewish culture that were not perceived as incompatible or offensive.

Still, it might surprise some that an obviously Christian author’s work on the Bible would find its
way into a wholly traditional prayer house (what would today count, no doubt, as an “ultra-orthodox
synagogue”). But when you think about it, why not? It is not a work of Christian theology but a Bible
concordance by a prominent Swiss Christian Hebraist, Johann Buxtorf | (1564—1629). The edition, the
title page of which is produced opposite, is Stettin 1861.The book originally appeared in Basel in 1632.

The stamp on the book says “belongs to the kloyz [prayer house] Or Torah in Vilna.” This presum-
ably nineteenth century kloyz (its name translates as “Light of Torah”) seems not to have survived (at
least not under the same name) to twentieth century Vilna. It is not listed among the hundred and
sixty prayer houses enumerated in Leyzer Ran’s Jerusalem of Lithuania (see Ran 1974, 1: 104).

The definitions of the Biblical terms are given in Latin, which would not have been of much use
to the congregants of Or Torah (Or Téyre in Vilna Yiddish, Or Téyre in the standard language). But the
references to the book, chapter and verse where each word occurs were provided in Hebrew by the
great Christian scholar of Hebrew, making the book almost exclusively useful for the Jewish reader!
Moreover, a number of definitions are provided in German, but in Jewish characters, using contem-
porary Yiddish spelling conventions (for example the letter ayin for e), which would also have been
a sometime help to Yiddish speakers in Vilna.

And so, the Latin-Hebrew tome, originally published in Basel by a famed Christian Hebraist,
seems to have sat very comfortably in the now-long-forgotten Or Torah prayer house in Vilna. And
so too its Hebrew book stamp sits in peace alongside the Latin title of the book...

Martynas Mazvydas National Library of Lithuania
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AN EARLY STRASHUN LIBRARY STAMP

The name “Strashun” is in the rarified coterie of Vilna Jewish royalty. The most famous Strashuins
were Samuel ben Joseph Strashun (originally Zaskevitsher, lived from 1794 to 1872), a scholar and
merchant. His son Matisyéhu Strashun (1819—1885) went on to become a prominent scholar, mer-
chant and social figure on Vilna’s high society scene (he got a seat on the city council and became a
member of the Imperial Bank of Russia’s branch in Vilna).

Matisyéhu Strashun was also a prodigious collector of books. Childless, he bequeathed his col-
lection to the community. It formed the basis of a public library from 1892, and in 1901 was moved
to a specially constructed annex to the Great Synagogue on the Shul-heyf (the Great Synagogue
Courtyard). In 1920, a street in the Old Town was named Strashuna in his memory by the city gov-
ernment (it's now Zemaitijos gatvé). Some have expressed the hope that it will soon be renamed, in
its Lithuanian language form — Strasano.

According to Aviva Astrinsky, chief librarian at Yivo, the stamp on the title page opposite (reproduced
on its own, above) “appears on all the original books that actually were in Reb Matisyohu’s collection. |
presume the books were thus stamped by his nephew and trustee, Dovid, either soon after his death,
or as the books were being catalogued.”’

This particular book is the Prague 1624 edition of Meir Benveniste’s Os Emes (‘Sign of Truth’),
originally published in Salonica in 1565. It is a commentary with corrections to errors in the classic
Jewish works of midrashic (homiletic) literature and notes on various prayers. According to the care-
ful reading of Dr. Moshe Rosenfeld, it was published on Tuesday, 26 Elul (= 10 September) 1624.

The Strashun stamp reads:“Stamp of the library of the late gaon, Reb Matisy’ Strashun, of blessed
saintly memory, of Vilna”

Incidentally, the Strashun Library, housed in its purpose built annex to the Great Synagogue for
forty years (1901 to 1941, when it was pillaged and looted by the Nazis), is sometimes confused with
another popular Jewish library, the Mefitsey Haskéle on Strashun Street (see p. A64) which became
the Ghetto Library in the period from early September 1941 to 23 Sept. 1943 (see p. A93).

Menke Katz Collection
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A GIFT TO THE STRASHUN KLOYZ

The kloyz (prayer and study house) named for the Strashins was a double-faced premises with en-
trances going out on two parallel Stephan Streets: Kleyn Stefn gas ('Little Stephan Street’) and Greys
Stefn gas (‘Big Stephan Street’), both of which emerge from Zavalna. At the time of this particular
stamp (interwar Polish Wilno), Little Stephan Street was called Kwaszelna, and the stamp duly re-
cords both addresses: Kwaszelna 4 and Wielka Stefanska 3. Today the two streets are known by their
names in translated Lithuanian: Raugyklos and Sv. Stepono (‘St. Stephen’s Street’; with no ‘Little St.
Stephan’to contrast with, so the ‘big’ has been deleted).

According to one tradition, the founder of the kloyz was Dovid Strashun (died in 1843), the fa-
ther-in-law of Samuel ben Joseph (the Reshash, as he was known by his acronymic). Dovid Stra-
shun’s fortune helped set up his son-in-law, Shmuel, who was so darned grateful that he took his
father-in-law’s name. Another version has it that it was because he settled with his wife’s parents in
the village Strashudn, near Zézmer (Straszuny, now Strositinai, near Ziezmariai). The versions merge
in so far as the in-laws took their name from their village, too.

The tradition of donating books to educational and religious institutions in memory of a dear
departed relative is strong, and one that inspires — a book stamp. On this fine edition of the Eyn-
Ydnkev (Ein Yaakov), published by Romm in Vilna in 1883, the title page bears three inked stamps: of
the Strashun Kloyz itself giving both its addresses on the parallel streets (upper right hand corner),
reproduced on its own above left. In addition, there are two (top left and bottom left) stamps com-
memorating the person in whose memory the book is being donated to the kloyz.

As a charming flourish, the donor of the book, Yitskhok Rudashevski, commissioned a traditional
scribe to adorn the book with an inked version of the dedication on the front endpapers (repro-
duced above, right), which reads: “This, Reb Yitskhok Rudashevski has bequeathed to the Strashun
Kloyz in memory of the soul of his beloved wife, Méras Rivke daughter of Reb Shiéyme-Zalmen who
passed away on the 19t day of Teyves in the year [5]693. May her soul be bound with the bond of
life” Incidentally, Mdras is the standard title for a woman, corresponding with male Reb.

The date of Rivke Rudashevski's death, commemorated by these stamps — inked and in-
scribed — corresponds to 17 January 1933 of the Christian calendar.

Menke Katz Collection
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A POOR MAN'S BOOK STAMP

The commissioning of an inked stamp was a luxury that not all could afford; and so it was with pay-
ing a scribe to inscribe a formal dedication in a book.

This volume of the Mishna (Tractate Sabbath, first chapter “Things Carried Out”), is modestly
dedicated to the Strashin Kloyz on the first text page inside, rather than on the title page or endpa-
pers. The handwriting is an everyday Vilna Jewish handwriting.

The dedication says, in simple Hebrew: “This was given to the Strashuin Kloyz, on Stephan Street
in Vilna, by Yehude son of Yankev Sharet.

Menke Katz Collection
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ELEGANCE OF A SCRIBAL HAND

But one “hand” (as paleographers use the word) is by no means equal to another. If a handwritten
cursive dedication of a gift, written into a book, is a “poor man’s way of doing things,” then the in-
scription by a scribal hand is a “rather elegant way of doing things,”in some views rather classier, in
fact, than a printed stamp.

In traditional communities, a very high status is enjoyed by the scribe whose work, after many
years of training and general higher Talmudic learning, can include the writing of the sacred verses
in the parchment within mezuzas (door post amulets) and tefillin (phylacteries for the hand and
head), and, at the highest level, the writing and repairing of scrolls of the Torah. Internationally,
scholars have marveled at the overall accuracy of Jewish scribes. When the Dead Sea Scrolls were
discovered in the twentieth century, the textual differences found between say, the modern Hebrew
prints of the book of Isaiah, and the Isaiah scroll that turned up at Qumran, in the Judean desert,
while of enormous significance to specialists, seemed relatively minor given the span of some two
thousand years and the generations of recopying before the age of print.

The inscription on this book, in the skilled hand of a professional scribe, reads: “This copy of The
Twenty-Four was bequeathed by Reb Chaim son of Reb Joseph, with his wife Sarah the daughter of
Reb Zalmen, to [literally: “in”] the kloyz Khévre Tehilim.”

The Twenty-Four is one of the names for the (Jewish) Bible in traditional Yiddish speaking com-
munities, a reference to the traditional division of the Old Testament into twenty-four books. Khévre
Tehilim is the name of a Vilna kloyz, meaning “Society for the Psalms,” that was dedicated to the read-
ing and reciting of chapters of Psalms. The Yiddishized pronunciation of the word for the Psalms was
often Tilem.

In traditional Jewish culture, kapitalakh Tilim (‘chapters from the Book of Psalms’) are read as a
kind of prayer and devotional activity, for example as a supplication for the recovery of a danger-
ously ill person.

Menke Katz Collection
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DEFECTIVE, BUT FIXED BY PROOFREADER NoO. 4

Vilna's most prestigious Jewish publishing house, specializing in the classic texts of Jewish religion,
culture and lore, was the family-owned Romm company (known for many years as “The Widow and
Brothers Romm”). Founded in Grodna (now Hrodna, Belarus) in 1789, the family set up shop in Vilna
in 1799, which soon became its sole headquarters. The Romms published what became known as
the classic “Vilna Shas” (The authoritative Vilna edition of the Talmud) and countless other books.
Their reign in Vilna, as the world’s most prestigious Jewish publisher, lasted until 1940, when they
were dismantled by the Soviet regime that had swallowed Lithuania (which had itself just acquired
the city from Poland, via the USSR, in the fall of 1939).

In the years before the First World War, Romm began to issue classic Hebrew and Aramaic texts
of Jewish civilization with (for the Jewish world) altogether modernistic (and, contextually, rather
daring) title pages. This volume, containing a tractate of the Babylonian Talmud, was published in
Vilnain 1912.

The eagle at the top of this modernistic design (as Talmudic title pages go) is rather engrossed in
the first lines of Pirke Oves (Pirkey Ovoys, Pirké Avét — the Sayings of the Fathers, a popular tractate
of the Mishna which anthologizes rabbinic wisdom on life and the purpose of the world. In everyday
Yiddish, this beloved little book is known simply as der Péyrek (‘The Chapter’). The artist has inscribed
the first lines of the Péyrek: “Moses received the Torah from Sinai, and gave it on to Joshua, Joshua
gave it on to..."” But in the spirit of modern Jewish art, the lettering is everyday cursive rather than
the square Hebrew of the print editions or its scribal version used in Torah scrolls. What is more, the
design of the entire title page evokes another line from the Péyrek (5: 20[/24]): “Rabbi Judah ben
Tema said: Be bold as a leopard, swift as an eagle, fleet as a gazelle, and strong as a lion, to do the
will of thy father who is in heaven.”

The impact of modernity on the most traditional of publications is evident in the accreditation
of the artist, in petit letters in the lower right hand corner: Moyshe son of Yehude-Leyb Maimon
(Moses, son of Judah Leib Maimon). But to the outside world of art, he was Moisei Leibovich (or
more russified — Levovich) Maimon (1860—=+1924), who studied at the Vilna Drawing School in
1880. He won a prize at the St. Petersburg Art Academy for his “Marranos under the Inquisition”and
did a series of chromo-lithographs on biblical themes. Some consider him to be in the spirit of the
famed Vitebsk school.

24



In the finest Romm tradition, a book with some defective pages had to have the defect an-
nounced honestly to the customer in a stamp on the title page, and to inform that things have now
been fixed after all. This book stamp therefore reads: “The book is corrected from the missing pages,
and from the spoiled ones, by proofreader no. 4." Let us hope for his sake that No. 4 got it right...

And so the book stamp has more uses that one would think at first.

Menke Katz Collection
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GITKIN'S BIBLE

The title page is of a handsome two-volume Vilna edition of the Jewish Bible (Old Testament). This is
the second, comprising the Prophets and Hagiographa (called the Ksuvim, literally “Writings”). The
title page proudly announces the inclusion of the Bible commentary of “the Malbim,” an acronym
for Meyer-Leyb ben Yekhiel-Mikhl (1809—1879), whose commentary on the Bible shot him to in-
stant fame across Jewish Eastern Europe.

The owner’s book stamp comprises the single word, in Russian: GITKIN.

Bur who was Gitkin?

Menke Katz Collection
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A BOOK OF MANY OWNERS

True, the Vilner Shas (Vilna edition of the Talmud), published by the Romms, rapidly became the
international standard, and most prestigious to own (and remains so to this day, via reprints). But
for Vilner (people in Vilna) themselves, it could also be rather satisfying to own a beautifully pro-
duced tome of the Talmud from “the west." This particular title page is from the 1863 edition of the
tractate Yevémes (Yevamoth, ‘Levirate Marriages’), published in Berlin in 1863 by Julius Sittenfeld,
whose Latin-letter initials appear at the base of the tree trunk of his logo. Such Latin letter initials of
the publisher would be quite unthinkable in the less internationalist “eastern tradition” of cities like
Vilna. But that did not affect desirability of the volume in Vilna. Perhaps it even enhanced it.

It is risky to guess about the chronology of the four distinct stamps on the title page opposite
(some occur twice), but language, typography and orthography suggest a plausible progression
from czarist-era owner A. Shabad (no. 1), the lumber merchant (Russian lesopromyshlennik), through
to his heirs/relatives Benyémin and Shéyne Shabad (no. 2), who donated the volume in memory of
Gedalye (Gedalyéhu) Frank who passed away on the 28" of lyar [51695, which fell on 30 May 1935;
the general-calendar year on the stamp is however 1932, so there seems to be a mistake some-
where.

But to which institution was it donated? One of the two institutional stamps is of the society
for study of the Talmud (no. 3) in Shnipeshok (today’s Snipiskés); the other is the newest stamp of
Ramadyles Yeshiva (no. 4) which relocated from its old city courtyard premises to Novigéred 9 (today
Naugarduko 7) in the new city (see pp. 30-31).

Menke Katz Collection

28



29



RAMAILES YESHIVA CALLS FOR SUPPORT

One of the well known yeshivas (higher rabbinical-Talmudical academies) in Vilna was Ramdyles
(Ramailes) yeshive. It was founded in 1831 in an Old City courtyard known as “Reb Mayle’s heyf,"
Vilna Yiddish for “Mr. Mayle’s Courtyard.” Mayle (Maile, Meile, and other spellings) was a known per-
sonality in eighteenth century Jewish Vilna (see Cohen 1943: 269; Glenn 1953: 174), and after the
yard was named for him, the yeshiva founded in that yard also became known as such, though its
actual founder was the humble chimneysweep Shabse ben Shabse and his wife Dveyre (Sabbethai
ben Sabbethai and Deborah) who gave everything they had for its establishment. But the name that
stuck was “Reb Mayle’s Yeshiva,” after the yard. In time, good old Yiddish phonetics worked its special
magic too. Old Mdyle — the personality — was forgotten. As the yeshiva acquired fame, it morphed
from Reb Mayle’s yeshive to Ramayles yeshive plain and simple, with the possessive sense lost.

The yeshiva’s ultimate fame rested on the reputations and lifework of a number of its leaders,
including Reb Abele Posveler and the founder of the Musar (‘Ethical Life’) movement, Israel Salanter
(1810—1883). Before World War |, the yeshiva moved to large new premises at Novigéred Street 9
(Novogrodska, site of the present Soviet-era building housing the Vilnius Simonas Daukantas sec-
ondary school at Naugarduko 7).

The poster opposite, dated Elul 5687 (the Jewish month corresponding with the period from 29
August to 26 September 1927), is signed by the yeshiva’s dean, Rabbi Hirsh Grodzensky, and bears
the stamp of “The Ramayles School for Rabbis” in Hebrew and Polish. It is a pained call for urgent
financial support in the face of a crisis. “The old yeshiva turns therefore with a call to our American
brethren in general and to ldndslayt (natives) of Vilna specifically: Help with your annual or short-
term contributions, think of the yeshiva for which it is a joy. We ask the honored rabbis and the ad-
ministrators of the synagogues to inspire to contributions for the yeshiva, by which you will rescue
the old historic yeshiva of the old Jewish city, the City and Mother of Israel — Vilna..."

The poster calls for contributions to be sent to the address of the fabled Rabbi Chaim-Oyzer
Grodzensky — Zavalna 17 (today Pylimo 15, where the original doors are preserved).

Menke Katz Collection
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GITL OF TATAR STREET

The book stamp became one of those genres in Jewish Vilna where a woman had the same rights
as a man, even in the most traditionalist, orthodox circles. This handsome volume of an Order of the
Mishna (the order Zréyim, or ‘Seeds’) bears the stamp, in royal blue ink, on the page opposite the
title page: “This is the gift of the woman Gitl of Tatarski Street 29, the daughter of Mr. Zev Goldberg
of blessed memory, the wife of Mr. Aaron Blecher of blessed memory.” So, the lady who donated this
book was the widowed Mrs. Gitl (Gittel) Blecher of Tatarski 29. Tatarska, as it was formally known, is
today’s Totoriy gatvé (preserving the meaning “Tatar Street”). Genrich Agranovsky, searching in the
city archives for the heroes of this book stamp collection, has found one Gita Blecher at Ludvisarska
121in 1932; no. 10 was at the corner of Ludvisarska (now Liejyklos) and Tatarska. Gita [gits] would be
the “formal base form” of diminutive “Gitl") and so it could just be her.

Gitl donated the book to the prayerhouse of Ramailes Yeshiva (see the previous item).

In fact, the page with the stamp bears several imprints of both the older and the newer stamp of
the prayerhouse associated with Ramailes Yeshiva. Above and to the left of Gitl's stamp are samples
of the older stamp that reads Vdad Beys ha-Knéses R’ Maylis, Vilno (‘Board of Reb Maile’s Synagogue,
Vilno'). This stamp goes back to a time when the yeshiva (or at least the synagogue) was still spelled
as Reb Maile’s, though with no apostrophe in the orthography, and with the nineteenth century yud
for the final unstressed vowel of the Yiddish name (giving Maylis = Mayli’s).

The second, and much later stamp, characteristic of the interwar period, which occurs to the
right and underneath of Gitl's stamp, says: Ezras Toyro d'Yeshivas Ramayles b'Vilno (or, in the “Seph-
ardic” pronunciation of the Zionist movement and then the State of Israel: Ezrdt Tord d'Yeshivdt
Ramadyles b'Vilna).

In the older stamp, the words “Reb Mayle’s” are in the center of the circular stamp. In the newer,
the word for “in Vilna" is centered.

And, in the older, Vilna (Ashkenazic Hebrew Vilno, typically Yiddishized in speech to Vilne) is spelled
with classic Aramaic style alef at the end. In the newer, a certain Zionist-Hebraist influence is felt in the
spelling (which spread to some elements of more modern Orthodox circles) of Vilna with word-final
hey. At the same time, however, modern Yiddish spelling conventions (ayin for e) are evident in the
spelling of Ramailes, which is condensed to one word, with no reference to a Reb Mayle...
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Note that both the older and new Ramailes Yeshiva stamps, for internal use on the books stud-
ied, are entirely in Jewish letters, whatever the shifting internal language politics of Hebrew, Ara-
maic and Yiddish spelling conventions and all that they evoke in the culture. That is in contrast with
the “non book stamp” stamp used on the fundraising appeal; that stamp, with Polish in first or equal
position, played the role of institutional stamp for the outside world.

The page also contains a scribbled ex libris: “belongs to Ramailes Yeshiva on Novogrodska”
with the initial shin of the first word, shdyekh (‘belongs’) “calligraphed” out to contain an eye image.

There are also some rather primitive arithmetic computations on the page.

Menke Katz Collection
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CHAYA-MIRIAM IN MEMORY OF HER DAUGHTER HINDA-ROCHEL

Few misfortunes are as heartrending for humankind as a woman's loss of her daughter.
This imposing large volume of a tractate of the Babylonian Talmud on women's laws was pub-
lished inViennain 1845 (cf. p. 28 on the deluxe ambience of imported folio editions of the Talmud).
The rather less aristocratically exacted gold leaf embossing in Vilna, added on the cover, reads:
“This is the gift of the woman Chaya-Miriam [Khays-Miryem] for the soul of her daughter who passed

away: Hinda-Rochel [Hind>-Rokhl] daughter of Reb Aaron Gordon, 28t of Cheshvon, [5]1629 accord-
ing to the shorter calendar style”

That corresponds to Friday, the 13" of November 1868.
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A FELLOW FROM "LITTLE SHNIPESHOK”

Shnipeshok, across the Viliya River from central Vilna (corresponding to today’s Snipiskés, across the
Neris River from central Vilnius), had (and some would say it still has) two subsections. If you went left
after crossing the Green Bridge (Zaliasis tiltas in Lithuanian), you were in Di linke Shnipeshok (‘the Left
Shnipeshok’ which was poorer). If you went straight ahead or right, you were in Di rékhte Shnipeshok
(‘the Right Shnipeshok’ deemed a better neighborhood). In a parallel terminology, the Left Shnipe-
shok was also called Kleyn Shnipeshok ('Little Shnipeshok’), and Right Shnipeshok was also called
Greys Shnipeshok (‘Big Shnipeshok’; in standard Yiddish pronunciation, ‘big’is groys rather than greys).

But in formal and sacred usage, Hebrew language equivalents for these terms were invoked to
provide the gravitas. In the embossed stamp opposite, Kleyn Shnipeshok is rendered Shnipeshok
haktano (‘the Little Shnipeshok’), with the classic Hebrew feminine giving an eerily sacred Biblical
aura to this poor neighborhood. It is embossed on the cover of a huge prayer book that is being
donated to a prayer or study house. The inscription translates (roughly):

“Gift of Reb Chaim-Yankev Levin the Levite of Little Shnipeshok, in memory of the soul of his esteemed
wife Moéras Kéyle-Malke daughter of Reb Reféel the Levite. She passed away on the 23rd of lyar 5699."

The date corresponds to 12 May 1939, and this embossed book would have been donated in her
memory not too long thereafter. That was the last spring of Polish-era Wilno.

Only a few months later, Vilna was taken by Soviet forces (in September 1939), and then be-
queathed to Lithuania (in October), as part of the Stalinist ruse to swallow all of Lithuania (fully
carried out in June 1940). The Holocaust came in June 1941 with the Nazi invasion and the start of
massacres by German forces and local collaborators of nearly all the Jewish population. So, in theory
the book could have been bequeathed anytime until the Nazi invasion of June 1941, though most
likely before the Soviet rule imposed in 1940).

The book may look rather beaten up today, but it was a handsome and relatively new volume,
just four years old, when dedicated. It is a Kol-bey (standard Ashkenazic Kol-boy, Israeli Hebrew Kol-
bo), meaning “All in It,” in other words all that you need is in this comprehensive prayer book. It was
published in Vilna by Romm'’s in 1935.

Menke Katz Collection
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THE RABBT'S RECEIPT FOR HIS SON'S TUITION FEE

People of many cultures inscribe important family data into bibles and other sacred tomes.

This particular sacred book belonged to “Khanekh-Hénekh Neviazski, rabbi of Antokol-Vilna."
The Polish text in the center of the stamp has“Rabin H. Niewiazski. Antokol-Wilno!” Antdkol, a suburb
of Vilna is today the Antakalnis district of Vilnius. Nowadays the much lengthened street, Antakalnio,
that is its core, extends northward quite a bit further than the original.

And underneath his stamp, the rabbi pasted in the receipt he received for paying his son’s tu-
ition money at the Yavne religious school at Sadéva 3 (today’s Sody gatvé).

The receipt, written in Hebrew reads:

4

“Yavne School, Sadéve 3, Vilna, with blessings to God, 6™ of Shvat [51694 [=22 January 1934].
Receipt no. 1321. Received from the brilliant rabbi, Reb Khénekh-Hanekh Neviazsky, on the
account for the tuition fee for the study of his son Tsvi-Hirsh, who studies in the Yavne School,
for the month of ...., the sum of six zehuvim [= contemporary Polish zloty]”

It is signed by the principal whose signature seems to be P. Ts. Teitz. The signature is such that
it could equally be Ts. P. Teitz. Genrich Agranovsky surmises it is Tsvi-Pinches Teitz who was at one
time director of the Yavne children’s school at Novogrodska (Yiddish: Novigéred) 41. The building
no longer stands.

Above the stamp and the receipt are three imprints of what was perhaps an earlier owner’s
stamp: “Avréhom Mérdechai son of Kh. Vaidiklovski, Lodz” There are also the two large handwritten
letters tof alef (“T. AY).

Menke Katz Collection
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THE BOOK OF JOB AT THE DAIRYMAN'S INN

On reflection, there is no reason why a milk shop should not have its stamp on a copy of the biblical
Book of Job. The page opposite happens to be from chapter 9, from midway in verse 24 to midway
verse 29. It is from a set of the Hebrew Bible published in Warsaw in 1874, with the standard com-
mentaries, plus a new feature heralded on the title page: the commentary of The Malbim (= acro-
nym of Rabbi Meyer-Leyb ben Yekhiyel-Mikhl, 1809—1879).

The stamp says,